1960

Southeast Furniture Co. v. Granite Holding Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Granite Holding Company, was the defendant below, and the respondent, Southeast Furniture Company, was the plaintiff.

This being an equity action for specific performance on appellant's counterclaim, the appellate court may review the facts as well as the law.

For many years prior to 1941, the parties and others used a right of way that extended south and west of

the right of way referred to in this action. The present right of way was created by joint action of the parties and was substituted for the old right of way. The single question to be decided is whether or not the appellant is now entitled to continue to use the substituted right of way.

The subject matter of this action is a right of way which runs easterly from McClelland Street approximately 500 ft. south of 21st South Street in the Sugar House area of Salt Lake City. This right of way amounts to a continuation of Elm Avenue which runs westerly directly opposite to it and on the west side of McClelland Avenue. The right of way is approximately 33 feet wide and 170 feet long. (Ex. D-3, D-9, R. 83, 133).

This roadway is used by appellant and respondent and their customers and others to gain access to property owned by appellant and respondent and others in the general areas east and north of this roadway. The roadway has, in fact, been used by the public generally for many years to gain access to the places of business, shops, and stores in this area. (R. 94, 95, 96, 117).

The title to the land comprising the west 130 feet of this roadway is in the respondent and the title to the land comprising the east 40 feet is in the appellant. (Ex. D-2, D-3, D-4, D-9, R. 132).

Appellant claims the right to the joint use of this roadway because of ownership of part of the land making up the roadway and by reason of an executed express oral agreement, or by reason of an implied agreement or by reason of estoppel, or as a public way.

For many years prior to about 1941, appellant and respondent and others gained access to the property in this area by means of a long, hazardous, inconvenient, roundabout and narrow right of way that entered east off of McClelland Street approximately 250 ft. south of the present roadway and curved northeast into their property in this area. (R. 84-90, 104, 105, 107, 113). The greatly increased business activity of the respondent, Southeast Furniture Company, made it very desirable for it to have a wider and more convenient means of access to its store properties from McClelland Street and it repeatedly urged appellant to join with it in creating this new joint right of way. (R. 89-90, 107-8). The closing of the old right of way would also relieve respondent from a possible encroachment claim by a land owner who stood to gain by the closing of it. (R. 163-4).

Accordingly, in 1941 it was agreed by appellant acting through Mr. Nephi J. Hanson, its President, now deceased, and respondent acting through Mr. S. E. Sorenson, its President, now also deceased, that the old right of way would be abandoned (R. 120) and a new joint right of way would be created by them to which both appellant and respondent would have a joint right of use. (R. 85, 90-95, 98, 106, 107, 114, 117, 120-22, 133 135, 136, 137). In fact, counsel for respondent agrees that if appellant had asked for a right of way deed at the time of the foregoing agreement by which this right of way was created, it would have been given. (R. 150) In 1941 contemporaneously with the foregoing agreement, respondent acquired title to the land which became the western part of the roadway, and appellant tore

down rental garages on its land to open up and make available land for the eastern part of the roadway. (R. 108-10, 113, 120-1, 136, Ex. P-6 and 7). Both parties thus joined in the actual physical preparation and creation of the roadway (R. 108).

Upon the creation of the roadway, it was put into joint use by appellant and respondent and others, and thereafter, appellant, relying upon the agreement and conduct of respondent, took action which irrevocably closed its old right of way to the south, (R. 91, 117) and thereby abandoned, quit-claimed away (R. 135, 136, Ex. D-8) and extinguished its only other means of access to its property from McClelland Avenue. This new roadway ever since such time has been and now is in continuous use by appellant, respondent, and others (R. 107, 122, 166).

As evidence of the intent and agreement that this should be a roadway open to the joint use of appellant and respondent and others, appellant and respondent in 1942 jointly requested in writing that the Salt Lake City Commission dedicate this very roadway here under consideration as a public street and as an eastern extension of Elm Avenue. In pursuance of this, the parties tendered executed deeds conveying their respective titles to the City. (R. 94-96, 144, 145, Ex. D-2, D-3, D-4). The City decided against dedication of the roadway inasmuch as its east end terminated on private property, and the deeds were returned to the parties. (Ex. D-3, R. 98).

For more than ten years the roadway was used harmoniously by both parties and the public generally

(R. 107, 117, 119, 147-8), and there was never a question but what appellant and respondent had reciprocal rights of way over each other's property and a joint right to the use of the roadway pursuant to the earlier acts and agreements of the parties. (R. 115, 121, 139) During this time respondent posted no signs of any kind. (R. 94, 99, 101, 102) In the meantime, the officers of appellant and respondent who had entered into the agreement and who had acted in creating the roadway, died.

Appellant's right to the use of the right of way was not questioned until about 1952 when appellant sought written evidence of it from respondent in order to satisfy an insurance company that was making a loan to appellant on its land in this area. Respondent refused to give appellant such written evidence unless appellant would pay an exorbitant price of \$10,000.00. (R. 137, 138) Subsequently, intensely bitter feelings arose between appellant and respondent over this and other matters apart from this roadway (R. 145), and in an attempt to strike at appellant, the respondent filed a complaint against appellant initiating this action on March 30, 1954 (R. 1) claiming rentals due respondent for the use by appellant of that portion of the roadway to which respondent had title.

Such action was filed without notice and without prior claim to rent having been asserted in any way by Respondent. (R. 92, 139-40) Further, the complaint makes no allegation of any express agreement for the payment of rent. Appellant claims that it was about this time that the small sign shown in Exhibit P-5 was

posted concerning the permissive use of the roadway. (R. 99, 102, 138, 146) The large sign that may have been posted earlier by respondent, was only directional to respondent's place of business. A close examination of the picture of the large sign shown in Exhibit P-5 clearly supports this. There can be seen showing through the white painted arrow the old original words "Service Entrance" even though an attempt has been made to paint them out. Any reference to permissive use originated with the small square sign placed of recent years about the time that respondent filed its complaint. (R. 99, 138, 140, 146) There is no definite evidence as to when either sign was placed. However, it is clear no signs of any kind were posted for several years. (R. 93, 99, 102, 138, 146) The appellant never considered that such signs pertained to it because of the prior agreement and acts of the parties (R. 140, 146), and the appellant and the public generally, have continuously used and now use said roadway.

On May 5, 1954, one month after the filing of the foregoing Complaint, appellant filed a motion to dismiss and an answer to the complaint. Nothing was done by respondent to press its suit for alleged rentals for many years. (R. 27, 29) Finally, the appellant, in order to affirm its right to cross over that portion of the roadway to which respondent claims title and to settle the cloud on said right of way caused by the pending suit, filed an amended answer and counterclaim on September 9, 1958, requesting specific performance of the agreement of the parties.

It is significant that respondent thought so little of the contentions of its complaint that it failed to appear on appellant's motion for leave to amend its answer and to file its counterclaim. Further, respondent made no effort to reply to the counterclaim which was duly served on September 24, 1958, and the default of respondent was entered October 21, 1958. Appellant was awarded a default judgment on its counterclaim more than three months later on January 27, 1959. (R. 8, 16, 27, 29) This default judgment was set aside on March 9, 1959. Thereafter, respondent again did nothing to press the complaint and alleged claim for rent, and appellant advanced the case to trial by filing a notice of readiness for trial on May 20, 1959.

The case was set for trial on October 8, 1959, and at the commencement of the trial, respondent abandoned its alleged rental claim and voluntarily requested dismissal of its complaint. (R. 76) It developed in the course of the trial on appellant's counterclaim, that the evidence showed not only an executed oral agreement creating a reciprocal right of way over the adjoining land of the parties, but also a right of way by estoppel and that the conduct, history and use of the right of way amounted to the creation of a public highway through public use in accordance with 27-1-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and an amended answer and counterclaim to conform to this evidence was filed with leave of the Court. (R. 48, 53, 62)

The appellant does not dispute the right of respondent to use appellant's portion of the right of way, but seeks an affirmation of its right to the use of respond-

ent's portion of the right of way. In this regard, counsel for respondent stated frankly that respondent "is not asking that (appellant) be denied the right to the use of the right of way." (R. 92-3) Further evidence of this was the voluntary dismissal by respondent of its complaint. (R. 76, 92)

There is some evidence in the record that in recent years, appellant has moved to acquire an interest in a fifteen foot strip of land north of the present right of way. (R. 128, 151-2) This was done in desperation and as a possible escape in the event that the respondent should prevail in its recent change of position in regard to this right of way and to insure appellant's ability to perform its prior and long standing obligations to others to provide them a right of way. (R. 128-30) Respondent objected to any attempt to so explain this acquisition in the course of the trial. (R. 152-3)

It would irreparably damage appellant to lose its right in the substituted right of way.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

- I. **There is an executed oral agreement creating a joint and reciprocal right of way over the adjoining lands of the parties.**
- II. **The executed oral agreement takes it out of the statute of frauds.**
- III. **The respondent is estopped to assert the statute of frauds.**
- IV. **A right of way over respondent's land has been created by estoppel.**

- V. **There is an implied agreement creating a joint and reciprocal right of way over the adjoining lands of the parties.**
- VI. **The roadway has been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public in accordance with 27-1-2 U.C.A. 1953.**
- VII. **There were no signs placed which prevented the creation of joint and reciprocal right of way by any of the means referred to by appellant.**
- VIII. **It was error to set aside respondent's default judgment on the counterclaim.**
- IX. **The failure of the trial court to rule upon the incompetency of witnesses to testify on particular matters was prejudicial error.**
- X. **The findings of the court are not responsive to and do not cover all of the material issues.**
- XI. **The findings and judgment are contrary to the evidence.**

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

There is an Executed Oral Agreement Creating a Joint and Reciprocal Right of Way Over the Adjoining Lands of the Parties.

It is not disputed that for some years prior to 1941 the parties with others used a right-of-way located several hundred feet south of the roadway now in question in order to gain access to their properties from McClelland Street. The appellant had reserved this right-of-way out of land it formerly held. It was a narrow, inconvenient, roundabout right-of-way. Both parties had

a valuable vested interest in it as it was the only existing way they had to gain access to their properties from McClelland Street since their properties did not abut on McClelland Street.

Further, it is not disputed that by the acts of the parties, a new, wide, direct, and much more convenient roadway was created to the north of the old right-of-way about 1941 which has been used continuously ever since by the parties and others as the only means available for them to gain access to their properties from McClelland Street. The appellant provided the necessary land for the east portion of the roadway, and respondent provided the necessary land for the west portion.

It is the contention of appellant that this new right-of-way was created pursuant to an express oral agreement which provided that appellant would have the right to the use of such right-of-way. The court below ruled that there was no such agreement. A review of the record indicates there is ample evidence to show such an agreement.

Witness Clyde F. Hansen testified that he was personally present and participated in the negotiations between appellant and respondent in which the oral agreement was made concerning the right of appellant to use the new right-of-way. (R. 90, 91, 98, 107). At that time this witness was secretary-treasurer of appellant.

Witness Willard B. Richards from personal knowledge testified concerning an agreement for the creation and right of use of the right-of-way. His testimony was that he personally talked to officers of the appellant

and respondent at the time and on the scene where the roadway was being created by the demolition of buildings and the acquisition of new land, and he was told they were by agreement going to change the right-of-way from the one going south. (R. 117, 120, 121, 122).

Witness W. L. Hansen testified concerning the oral agreement by which the new joint right-of-way was created and by reason of which the appellant had a right to the use of the right of way over the land of the respondent. The evidence also shows that the existence of this oral agreement and resulting right was affirmed by action of appropriate officers of respondent on several occasions (R. 133, 135, 136, 137, 146, 147, 149, 150).

It is significant that at no place in the entire record is there any testimony for the respondent actually denying the existence of the oral agreement claimed by appellant. On the other hand, the circumstances and the acts of the parties all go to corroborate the evidence adduced by appellant that there is an executed oral agreement as claimed by appellant.

The fact of the change of location of the right of way evidences the required meeting of the minds for the existence of the contract. The right-of-way could not have been changed except upon mutual accord and agreement. There is ample consideration to support the contract in that appellant abandoned and gave up a valuable right-of-way to the south and demolished income producing buildings and thereby forfeited and permanently lost the monthly rental therefrom, and respondent gained a much more convenient and advantageous right-of-way.

POINT II.

The Executed Oral Agreement Takes it out of the Statute of Frauds.

There is no question but what the parties have fully performed pursuant to their oral agreement for the creation and use of the new right of way. The appellant performed by tearing down its rental buildings to provide part of the necessary land for the right of way, abandoning its old right of way to which it cannot now be restored, and assisting in the actual physical preparation and creation of the new right of way. The loss in rentals to appellant on the storage sheds since they were torn down approximately 19 years ago conservatively amounts to at least \$7,000.00. Respondent performed by acquiring and providing part of the necessary land for the right of way, abandoning the use of the old right of way, and assisting in the actual physical preparation and creation of the new right of way. Further, ever since the creation of the new roadway, the parties have jointly and continuously used and are now using the new right of way. The only thing that remains undone is the execution of cross deeds by the parties, and counsel for the respondent admits that this would have been done at the time had the appellant requested it. (R. 150)

The appellant seeks judicial affirmation of its permanent right to use the right of way and a decree for continued specific performance of the oral contract on the part of respondent. The appellant cannot be restored to its former condition and right of way nor would damages adequately compensate it for its loss of this interest in land.

It is a fundamental rule that executed or partially performed oral agreements are taken out of the Statute of Frauds and are enforceable. It is expressly provided by 25-5-8 U.C.A. 1953 that:

“Nothing in this chapter contained shall be construed to abridge the powers of courts to compel the specific performance of agreements in case of part performance.”

The rule that part performance of an oral agreement takes it out of the Statute of Frauds specifically applies to agreements relating to the creation of an easement. The following rule is stated in at 49 *Am. Jur.* 790, Section 488:

“The doctrine of part performance applies to a parol agreement for a permanent easement as well as to an agreement for the sale of land. Thus, an oral agreement for a private way or railroad right of way, for the establishment of a private road, street, or alley, or for a right of storage is enforceable in equity where the grantee has acted in reliance on the agreement so that the failure to enforce the agreement specifically will result in the perpetration of a fraud upon or injustice toward him.”

The following are specific applications of the general rule and are contained at 101 A.L.R. 982, *Part Performance of Oral Land Contracts*:

“An oral agreement for the establishment of a private road will be specifically enforced, where it has been partly performed by the parties.”

“So, an oral agreement among several landowners that each will donate a strip of ground necessary to lay out a continuous street and highway will be specifically enforced against one

landowner at the suit of the others, where the latter have performed." (*Brower v. Walker*, 182 Iowa 804, 166 N.W. 269)

The acts of part performance may of themselves be such as to prove the contract and take it out of the statute of frauds. If the acts performed are such that they cannot be explained consistently with any other agreement than the one alleged, they may be relied upon as the sole proof of the contract.

"The true rule is, however, as we think, very clearly stated by Pomeroy (*Spec. Perf.* Sec. 107) in these words: "The acts of part performance must be such as show that *some* contract exists between the parties, that they were done in pursuance thereof, and that it is not inconsistent with the one alleged in the pleadings. Whenever acts of part performance are made out which thus point to a contract, the door is opened, and the plaintiff may introduce additional parol evidence directed immediately to the terms of the contract relied upon"; a proposition which the author supports by abundant citation of authorities."

"If the acts of part performance prove the whole contract, there is no occasion for any parol evidence of its terms, and no difficulty whatever arises under the Statute of Frauds." (*Andrew v. Babcock*, 63 Conn. 109, 26 A. 715, 101 A.L.R. 961).

There is ample evidence in the record to show an oral agreement by the parties to create the new joint right of way involved herein and give the parties reciprocal rights to cross over the adjoining land of the other. Otherwise, how does the respondent explain the acts of the appellant in abandoning its only existing right of way and demolishing its rental buildings to provide

land for the new right of way and all of the other acts of appellant and respondent in connection with the creation of the new right of way. Even though appellant was required to furnish some right of way for respondent because of an earlier agreement, it would not have changed the location of this right of way which it needed and was using if in so doing it lost its only existing right of way and became subject to the permissive use and control of the respondent in the new right of way. There was no reason for the appellant to have put itself in this position, and the respondent has shown none.

The acts of the parties in performance support the agreement as alleged. To hold otherwise would result in fraud on the performing party.

“Part performance which will avoid statute of frauds may consist of *any act* which puts party performing in such position that nonperformance by other would constitute fraud.” (*Utah Mercur Gold Mine Co. v. Herschel Gold Min. Co.*, 103 Ut. 249, 134 P.2d 1094)

In the above referred to *Utah Mercur* case the court found that the part performance supported and took outside of the statute of frauds an oral agreement to extend a written lease and in so doing used the following language:

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