1960

Southeast Furniture Co. v. Granite Holding Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellant lays great weight to that evidence which the court permitted to come into the record over objection of counsel for respondent to the effect that in 1942 an effort was made by the late Messrs. Hansen & Sorenson to have the way accepted by the city of Salt Lae City as a public street.

There is nothing in the record which shows any transaction on the part of respondent company to take such action, there is no executed deed, there is no competent evidence to such effect, that evidence which was received is nothing but hearsay, and incompetent. If this evidence were to be given consideration, the logical conclusion would be that the Respondent sought the dedication in order to be relieved of the burden of main-

tenance, for which it had the sole and exclusive responsibility.

At page 5 appellant states the evidence shows there were no signs posted on the property for more than 10 years subsequent to 1952. Appellant's witnesses admit there was a sign posted in 1945 (R. 102). No objection was made by appellant when the sign was posted. Witness Bill Hansen testified that "he didn't feel it applied to us." (R. 146)

The evidence that signs had been posted at the McClelland Street entrance to the way in 1945 is uncontradicted, therefore, no legal rights had been acquired by appellant to that time unless the rights could be shown by oral agreement.

At page 5 (R. 145) appellant makes it appear that bad feelings existed between officers of appellant and respondent, but we submit that the only evidence of disagreement shown is that Bill Hansen, an officer of appellant company objected to Mr. H. A. Sorensen, an officer of respondent company, having hard topping put on that part of the driveway title to which is in appellant without first having obtained the consent of appellant, but nothing more.

POINT I.

Appellant's principal contention point I is based on its counterclaim Paragraph 2 at page 3 (R. 11, R. 64) wherein appellant alleges as follows:

“It was further agreed that the right of way would be used and maintained by plaintiff and defendant jointly.”

It is admitted by appellant that it has paid nothing toward maintenance of the way (R. 149). Therefore, even provided appellant could establish the agreement contended for, by its own admission it failed to perform its part of the agreement.

Appellant does not rely on a prescriptive right, but relies entirely on an oral agreement to establish a right of way to encumber the property of respondent with a permanent easement. In order to prove such an agreement appellant relies on testimony of witnesses incompetent under the laws of the State of Utah to testify.

As to the competency of witnesses, Section 78-24-2 (3) UCA 1953 on who may not be witnesses reads as follows:

“A party to any civil action, suit, or proceeding, and any person directly interested in the event thereof, and any person from, through or under whom such party or interested person derived his interest, or title or any part thereof, when the adverse party in such action, suit or proceeding claims or opposes, sues or defends, as guardian of an insane or incompetent person, or as the executor or administrator, heir, legatee or devisee of any deceased person, or as guardian, assignee or grantee, directly or remotely, of such heir, legatee or devisee, as to any statement by, *or transaction with, such deceased, insane or incompetent person, or matter of fact whatever,*

which must have been equally within the knowledge of both the witness and such insane, incompetent or deceased person, unless such witness is called to testify thereto by such adverse party so claiming or opposing, suing or defending, in such action, suit or proceeding." (italics added)

Timely objection was made to appellant's witnesses who were permitted to testify. The testimony given by appellant's witnesses clearly shows the importance of the rule and the reason for same.

POINT II

Under Point II appellant contends that by its having shown performance, on the part of appellant, of its obligation under the purported agreement by the removal of some sheds the statute of frauds does not apply.

By appellant removing a few sheds appellant was only doing that which it was already legally obligated to do in furnishing that property over which the driveway was established for convenience. Because respondent was at the time willing to permit the temporary use of its property in the relocation, even had there been an agreement as contended for by plaintiff, this does not constitute performance of the agreement contended for inasmuch as appellant was as heretofore stated, legally obligated to furnish a right of way to respondent, still such act on the part of respondent did not pass any legal right for a permanent use of respondent's property to appellant.

The attention of the Court is further directed to the fact that as heretofore stated, appellant admits by its pleadings that if an agreement had been entered into as contended for, appellant was obligated to pay a portion of the maintenance of the driveway and appellant's witnesses admitted that appellant had paid nothing toward such maintenance.

It is most unreasonable to presume that respondent would give over four times more property than that given by appellant, pay taxes thereon and pay the total cost of improving and maintaining the driveway for the benefit of appellant as is contended for by appellant.

The cases cited by appellant under Point II are not applicable, because appellant did not show performance of an agreement which would take the case out of the statute of frauds.

Under Section 25-5-1 UCA 1953 the law is stated as follows:

“No estate or interest in real property, other than leases for a term not exceeding one year, nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunder authorized by writing.”

In 49 Am. Jur. — Statute of Frauds, Section 182 at page 513 the law is stated as follows:

“It is universally held that an easement is an ‘interest’ within the meaning of statutes which follow in effect the English statute prohibiting the creation by parol of any ‘interest’ in real property and requiring any contract for the sale of any ‘interest’ therein to be in writing, and therefore, that the creation of an agreement to create an easement is within the statute.”

Had it not been evident that appellant was legally obligated under its deed to respondent to furnish respondent with a right of way and had appellant and its successors not reserved the right by said deed to relocate the right of way, then appellant’s position and argument might carry some weight, but appellant cannot ignore its obligation to respondent under the provision of its deed.

POINT III

As to appellants Point III on Estoppel, the cases relied upon and the argument made by appellant might apply to that case where there appeared no legal obligation on the part of the party who would invoke the rule to furnish a right of way, but the same do not apply to the case at issue.

The fact that respondent officers might have observed tearing down of some sheds by appellant could not under any circumstance of this case act to estop respondent from defending its title to its land when

appellant was already obligated by deed to furnish respondent with a right of way.

Appellant argues that the sign in evidence (Ex. P. 5) is not that sign first posted on the property. The sign which is in evidence bears the same wording as one previously placed at the entrance of the driveway as was testified to by witness, J. Gordon Sorenson (R. 161).

POINT IV

The same argument which is made to appellant's Point III is applicable to its Point IV.

POINT V

As to Point V of appellant's brief, there is no presumption that a right to use respondents property exists inasmuch as the use has not been for the statutory period, this even if no sign had been posted on the property. Therefore the evidence to establish appellant's claim of an agreement must be clear and convincing. The law is jealous of a claim to an easement, 28 CJS Sec. 68. P. 734.

Appellant has not shown that the way is by necessity. Appellant has not pleaded nor relied on a right of way by necessity but relies wholly on an oral agreement.

Appellant has not cited a Utah case in support of its argument under Point V and it is our opinion that the Utah Courts have not adopted the rule of law relied on by appellant but on the contrary our courts have required one relying on use or on implied agreement to have made use of the way adversely to the owner of the servient estate for the required period to have acquired a right of way by prescription.

The Utah cases cited by appellant under its Point V are not in point, the cases cited apply to boundary line cases and not rights of way.

POINT VI

As stated under respondent's opening argument there is no competent evidence to support appellant's argument under its Point VI. There is no evidence of public use of the way as contended to establish a right of way under Section 27-1-2 UCA 1953 but on the contrary appellant's witnesses testified that its tenants used the same, but not the customers of its tenants. The evidence even if admissible would show that the city refused to accept the way as a dedicated public thoroughfare and therefore if there was an agreement made by the officers of appellant and respondent to dedicate the way as a public street the same failed.

POINT VII

Much of appellant's argument under its Point VII is not supported by evidence, but contrary to the argu-

ment of appellant the evidence which is corroborated by one of appellant's own witnesses is to the effect that signs were posted for many years, in fact from the time of acquisition by respondent of its property. Appellant's witness, Richards, even testified to a chain having been placed across the way at a point where appellant's property adjoined the property of respondent (R. 119).

POINT VIII

Regarding Point VIII the record shows a default certificate having been entered on October 22, 1958 but judgment was not entered until January 27, 1959. Respondent's Motion to set aside the default judgment was filed February 6, 1959 which was well within the three (3) month period provided under Rule 60 b. Appellant would have the court read into Rule 60 b the word "default" where the word "judgment" appears.

Attention is here directed to the fact that the default was entered on a counterclaim. A counterclaim on which appellant's action is predicated which was not served on respondent as required by Rule 5 but the same was mailed to the attorney for respondent.

The courts do not favor judgments by default (*Utah Com. & Sav. vs. Trumbo*, 17 U 198 footnoted under Rule 55 (a) (1). Especially is this true of defaults entered on counterclaims where as in this case it is evident that respondent had a meritorious defense to the counterclaim. Then too, it is clearly evident that that which appellant calls a counterclaim was not in fact a counter-

claim, it added nothing new to that pleading which appellant had already filed as its answer. That is to say while the answer of appellant as amended does contain that which they title a counterclaim, technically it is not a counterclaim at all and requires no answer.

Then too, while we are mindful of the fact that it is the practice among attorneys here in this district to but mail a counterclaim to counsel of record for respondent, still such service does not meet the requirement of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 5 (b) (1) permitting service upon a party by mailing to his attorney is not applicable where a counterclaim is interposed.

In further support of this statement we cite Rule 55 (a) (2) which reads as follows:

“Notice to Party of Default. After the entry of the default on any party, as provided in subdivision (a) (1) of this rule, it shall not be necessary to give such party in default any notice or paper otherwise required by these rules to be served on a party to the action or proceeding, *except as provided in Rule 5 (a).*”

And we find Rule 5 (a) reading as follows: Service. When Required.

“Every order required by its terms to be served, every pleading subsequent to the original complaint unless the court otherwise orders because of numerous defendants, every written motion other than one which may be heard ex

parte, and every written notice, appearance, demand, offer of judgment, designation of record on appeal, and other papers requiring service shall be served upon each of the parties affected thereby, *but no service need be made on parties in default or failure to appear except that pleadings asserting new or additional claims for relief against them shall be served upon them in the manner provided for service of summons in Rule 4.*"

If the counterclaim does in fact assert a new or additional claim for relief on behalf of defendant and against plaintiff then the counterclaim must be served upon the plaintiff as a summons is served and not upon its attorney by mailing a copy thereof to the attorney.

"The allowance of a vacation of a judgment is a creature of equity designed to relieve against harshness of enforcing a judgment which may occur through procedural difficulties, the wrongs of the opposing party or misfortunes which prevent the presentation of a claim or defense."

Citing *Warren vs Dixon, Utah*, 260 P2d 741.

The Warren case further states as annotated: "The rule that the courts will incline towards granting relief to a party who has not had an opportunity to present his case is ordinarily applied at the trial court level."

In the Warren case the court speaking through Mr. Justice McDonough says at page 743:

“The difficulty facing the trial court upon a motion to vacate the judgment lies in the fact that a compromise between two valid considerations must be selected. A rule which would permit the re-opening of cases previously decided because of error or ignorance during the progress of the trial would in a large measure vitiate the affects of *res judicata* and create a hardship to the successful litigant in causing him to prosecute his action more than once and possibly lose the ability to collect his judgment; *on the other hand, the court is anxious to protect the losing party who has not had the opportunity to present his claim or defense. Discretion must be exercised in furtherance of justice and the court will incline toward granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing. Citing Hurd v. Ford, 74 Utah 46. (Italics added).*

There can be no hardship claimed by appellant in the instant case nor is appellant in any danger of losing any right to collect its judgment should the Court grant Respondent's motion, there being no money judgment involved.

In the *Hurd v. Ford* case we find 8 of the syllabus reading as follows:

“Judgment-Discretion to relieve from Default judgment must be exercised in furtherance of Justice, and Court will Incline toward granting relief in doubtful case (Comp. Laws 1917, Sec. 6619). The discretion lodged in court by Comp. Laws 1917, Sec. 6619, to set aside default or relieve party from default judgment, is to be exercised in furtherance of justice, and court will

incline toward granting relief in doubtful case to end that party may have a hearing.”

Now Rule 60 b is substantially the same as former section 104-14-4 Utah Code 1943 and we find section 14-14-4 taken from Sec. 6619, Laws of Utah, 1917.

Our Courts have said no general rule can be laid down respecting discretion to be exercised by trial court in setting aside or refusing to set aside judgment by default; each case must necessarily depend on its own peculiar facts and circumstances, *but discretion should always be so exercised as to promote ends of justice.*

In *Utah Commercial & Savings Bk. v Trumbo*, 17 U. 198, 53 P. 1033, the law is stated as follows:

“Power of trial court to set aside judgments by default should be exercised liberally to end that causes may be tried on their merits, and where circumstances which led to default are such as to cause court to hesitate, doubt should be resolved in favor of application for setting aside judgment rendered on default.”

In footnote to Rule 55 (a) (1) note 10 we find the following:

“While granting or refusing applications to open and set aside defaults is addressed to court’s sound discretion, yet power should be exercised freely and liberally.”

Our Courts have not deviated from the rule of law laid down in the setting aside of defaults.

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